

Urgent Care Pathways for Older People with Complex Needs

Best Practice Guidance

Urgent Care Pathways for Older People with Complex Needs

Best Practice Guidance

Prepared by

The Urgent Care Pathway Working Group

DH Information Reader Box					
Policy HR/Workforce Management Planning Clinical	F II F	Estates Performance M & T Finance Partnership wor	king		
Document purpose:	Best Practice Guidance				
ROCR ref:	G	Gateway ref:	7817		
Title:	Urgent care pathways for older people with complex needs				
Author:	DH / Older People's Policy				
Publication date:	November 2007				
Target audience:	PCT CEs, NHS Trust CEs, SHA CEs, Care Trust CEs, Foundation Trust CEs, Medical Directors, Directors of PH, Directors of Nursing, Local Authority CEs, PCT PEC Chairs, NHS Trust Board Chairs, Allied Health Professionals, GPs, Emergency Care Leads				
Circulation list:					
Description:	A practical ambulance service and A&E urgent care pathway for older people with complex needs caused by falls, confusional states or hip fracture. It identifies best clinical practice in these three areas and constructs a clear and auditable clinical care pathway.				
Cross ref:	N/A				
Superseded docs:	N/A				
Action required:	N/A				
Timing:	N/A				
Contact details:	scpi-sr-corres@dh.gsi.go Policy Management Unit Room 119 Wellington Ho 133-155 Waterloo Road, SE1 8UG	use			
For recipient's use:					

© Crown copyright 2007 First published date

Published to DH website, in electronic PDF format only. http://www.dh.gov.uk/publications

Foreword

From the National Director for Emergency Access, Professor Sir George Alberti, and the National Director for Older People, Professor Ian Philp.

We welcome the recommendations of this report prepared by the Urgent Care Pathway Group, chaired by Professor John Young, suggesting detailed advice on how to improve urgent care for older people.

Older people are high users of urgent and emergency care services, particularly ambulance services and A&E departments, and many of these older people will have complex needs and multiple conditions.

Where hospital admission is being considered it is important to identify those older people who need specialist involvement as a result of frailty. Specialist involvement is known to improve outcomes, reduce length of stay and identify those who would benefit from intermediate care rather than hospital admission (i-v).

The key markers of frailty during emergency response are the presence of confusion or a history of recent falls and or loss of mobility.

For this reason, it is important that these frailty markers are identified during emergency response.

This paper provides advice about how to adapt emergency response systems for older people presenting with falls, confusion or hip fracture with the introduction of simple screening tools and provides the basis for audit of practice. An in-depth assessment by front line staff may be unrealistic, but at risk older people can be identified and referred for specialist assessment and care.

In particular, we would like to emphasise the importance of the following points.

A&E professionals and ambulance clinicians consider routinely:

- ask all older people if the emergency is related to a fall or blackout
- assess gait and balance by observation of standing and walking (using usual walking aids)
- assess for confusion using a cognitive assessment instrument, such as the abbreviated mental test (AMT) 4

The AMT 4 simply records the response to:

1. what year are we in?

- 2. what do we call this place you are in?
- 3. how old are you?
- 4. what is your date of birth?

An incorrect answer to any of the four questions suggests cognitive impairment may be present.

It is our hope that by using this pathway services will be able to ensure patients identified as having falls or blackouts, patients with impaired gait, or with confusion are offered referral for specialist assessment and receive multi-disciplinary specialist care in the hospital, or through intermediate care services in the community.

References

- i.Campbell SE, Seymour DG, Primrose WR. A systematic literature review of factors affecting outcome in older medical patients admitted to hospital. Age Ageing. 2004;33(2):110-5.
- ii. Covinsky KE, Justice AC, Rosenthal GE, Palmer RM, Landefeld CS. *Measuring prognosis and case mix in hospitalized elders. The importance of functional status.* J Gen Intern Med. 1997;12(4):203-8.
- iii.Inouye SK, Peduzzi PN, Robinson JT, Hughes JS, Horwitz TI, Concato J. *Importance of functional measures in predicting mortality among older hospitalized patients*. JAMA. 1998;279(15):1187-93.
- iv. Challis D, Clarkson P, Williamson J, Hughes J, Venables D, Burns A, et al. *The value of specialist clinical assessment of older people prior to care homes*. Age Ageing. 2004;33(1):25-34.
- v. Carpenter I, Bobby J, Kulinskaya E, Seymour G. *People admitted to hospital with physical disability have increased length of stay: implications for diagnosis related re-imbursement in England*. Age Ageing. 2007:36(1):73-8

Contents

Foreword	4
Contents	6
Introduction	7
Background	7
Purpose	7
Falls and Older People	8
Ambulance Service Response to Falls	8
The A&E Department and Falls	
Falls Care Pathway	
Confusional States and Older People	
Hip Fracture and Older People	12
Suggested A&E and Ambulance Service Urgent Care Pathway for Older People Presen	iting
with Falls, Confusion or Hip Fracture	_
Audit Topic 1	
Audit Topic 2	
Audit Topic 3	
Audit Topic 4	14
Suggested Audit Indicators for the A&E and Ambulance Service Urgent Care Pathway f	or
Older People with Complex Needs	
(i) A&E	
(ii) Ambulance Service	16
References	4.0
Working Group Members	20

Introduction

Background

Older people comprise a large proportion of urgent care responses involving ambulance services and A&E departments. There are over three million A&E attendances in England for older people each year (or an estimated 18% of all A&E attendances (1)). Many of these patients will be older people with complex needs – that is older people with multiple chronic conditions such as visual, hearing, mobility and cognitive impairment. For both these front line services, an in-depth assessment of physical, mental and social issues is unrealistic. Increasingly, ambulance service and A&E practitioners are able to commence the assessment of an older person and act as a conduit to ensure that selected older people are referred on for more detailed, comprehensive assessment. To do so effectively these staff need to be supported by well designed care systems that link readily to specialist comprehensive assessment for older people.

Purpose

With these points in mind, a project has been jointly established between the National Director for Emergency Access and the National Director for Older Peoples' Services. The aim has been to develop a suggested practical ambulance service and A&E urgent care pathway for older people with complex needs that will drive up the quality of assessments for older people in line with the expectations described in the National Service Framework for Older People (NSF) (2). Members of the Urgent Care Pathway Group are listed in the appendix. The following common conditions were selected to be the focus of the Ambulance Service and A&E Urgent Care Pathway for older people with complex needs:

- 1. Falls
- 2. Confusional states
- 3. Hip Fracture

Our approach has been to identify best clinical practice in these three areas and construct a clear and auditable clinical care pathway.

Falls and Older People

Falls has been selected because the condition represents a major national public health issue. Falls are the commonest cause of serious injury in older people and the commonest reason for hospital attendance. There is reliable research evidence that between a quarter and one third of falls can be prevented in older people (3). The NSF has described the appropriate service response based on an integrated falls prevention service (2) and the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) has produced guidance on important components of such a service (4).

Ambulance Service Response to Falls

The importance of the ambulance response to older people who have fallen has historically been poorly recognised within the wider NHS. Ambulance clinicians are in a unique position of attending this group of patients in their own home and as a result are able to observe, not only the condition of the patients, but also their living conditions (hygiene, food etc). Moreover, ambulance clinicians are now acknowledged as important partners in the implementation of local falls prevention services and it has become clear that ambulance services can play an important role in case finding and, if suitable routine systems are in place, offer a major opportunity for falls prevention. For example, in the former Hampshire Ambulance Service, there were over 21,000 '999' responses for falls in the year commencing April 2005 representing 18% of annual demand at an approximate cost of £200 each.

Over a third of the patients involved in these emergency responses are "not-conveyed" to a hospital (5) because the patient is not injured, or because another referral pathway is more appropriate, or because the patient refuses to attend the A&E department. However, these patients have a high risk for further falls (5) and/or the development of a behavioural response characterised by 'fear of further falls' such that they become housebound with features of anxiety/depression. Ideally, these ambulance patients should be positively identified and made known to the local primary and community care services. Early intervention can be expected to reduce the need for future health and social care services. At present, routine engagement of primary and community care services with this group of vulnerable older people who have "fallen but not-conveyed" does not always occur and needs rectification. Often no other healthcare professional is made aware that the ambulance service has attended this group of patients and there is therefore a missed opportunity to utilise the valuable information collected about the person and the fall (5).

The A&E Department and Falls

Older people presenting with falls is a major issue for A&E departments. In 1999 there were nearly 650,000 falls related A&E attendances in the UK for people over 65 years (6). Studies suggest nearly a half of A&E attendances for people aged over 65 years can be the result of a fall (7) and 50% of those who fall will have another fall within the next 12 months (8,9). There is evidence that falls prevention initiated in A&E can be effective (9,10). However, there is considerable under-reporting of falls and blackouts in older people because the consequence of the fall (namely, the injury or fracture) becomes the diagnosis, the sole focus of attention and the subsequent code for the episode of care. Thus, the primary event, the fall/blackout, is often not acknowledged either clinically or in the coding and goes unreported. Over a third of falls go unreported in computerised A&E records (11). In practice this results in the wider issue of falls prevention becoming overlooked. This issue has become increasingly important with the more widespread introduction of district wide, integrated falls prevention services currently being established by primary care trusts in accord with the NSF. It is therefore important that A&E departments and ambulance services become fully integrated with their local falls services, building on the integrated services being developed in a number of areas.

The recent (Jan. 2006) National Sentinel Falls Audit (12) reported that this required integration is lacking: "There is striking evidence of inadequate involvement of the specialist falls service in critical components of the hospital service. In A&E there is inadequate screening for risk of falls. The majority of A&E Departments do not have any mechanism for involving the specialist falls service on site. Specialist falls services have limited involvement in developing protocols with A&E to patients with osteoporotic hip fracture."

UK research evidence has shown that improving integration of A&E departments with falls services can reduce hospital attendances and admissions for recurrent falls and these systems of care can be implemented in day-to-day practice (12).

Falls Care Pathway

The falls care pathway, as described in the NSF and in the NICE guidance, involves primary prevention (environment & lifestyle issues); case finding of people who have fallen or who are at risk of falling; multi-disciplinary assessment for falls risk factors; and an individualised multi-component, multi-agency intervention for falls prevention. It is self-evident that ambulance services and A&E departments can make a contribution to the falls care pathway but that neither services can be expected to undertake the whole pathway, the latter components of which comprise the specialist falls prevention service. Two aspects of the falls care pathway of special relevance to ambulance services and A&E departments are:

<u>Case identification:</u> "Older people in contact with health care professions should be asked routinely whether they have fallen in the past year and asked about the frequency, context and characteristics of the fall(s). Older people reporting a fall or considered at risk of falling should

Urgent Care Pathways for Older People with Complex Needs – Best Practice Guidance

be observed for balance and gait deficits and considered for their ability to benefit for interventions to improve strength and balance." (Reference: NICE guidance 2004).

Multi-factorial Falls Risk Assessment: "Older people who present for medical attention because of a fall, or report recurrent falls in the past year, or demonstrate abnormalities of gait and/or core balance should be offered a multi-factorial falls risk assessment. This assessment should be performed by healthcare professionals with appropriate skills and experience, normally in the setting of the specialist falls service. This assessment should be part of an individualised multi-factorial intervention." (Reference: NICE guidance 2004).

It was felt appropriate for ambulance services and A&E departments to consider contributing to the district wide case identification of falls in older people, and to consider initiating (but not undertake) the multidisciplinary comprehensive falls of assessment.

Confusional States and Older People

Confusional states are another common presentation of illness in older people. Estimates suggest that 10 to 30% of older people presenting to A&E departments have delirium (13). Terminology is important but not always well understood. Dementia is a clinical syndrome with several pathological entities (e.g. Alzheimer's' disease, cerebrovascular disease) in which there is a chronic confusional state typically characterised by impaired memory. Acute confusion (often referred to as delirium) develops over a short time period and is typically characterised by fluctuation and periods of drowsiness. The two clinical syndromes can be perplexing because they can co-exist – dementia is the major risk factor for delirium. Research suggests that delirium is frequently under-recognised or misdiagnosed as dementia, or simply recorded as 'a confused elderly patient.' Non-detection of delirium in A&E departments has been shown to be associated with increased mortality (14).

The noise, bright lights, stark and unfamiliar environment of an ambulance or A&E department can be especially threatening to frail older people and often has an adverse effect on cognitive abilities. The Royal College of Physicians has recently reviewed the delirium literature and has produced guidelines to improve delirium management (15). An important aspect of particular relevance to A&E departments is to improve delirium case finding by routinely incorporating a test of cognitive function for older people presenting for emergency care. This improvement in clinical assessment has therefore been addressed in the suggested urgent care pathway.

Hip Fracture and Older People

A hip fracture is the most serious complication of a fall in an older person. It carries a threat to survival and to future independence. Most of these fractures are fragility fractures in which a low impact fall (i.e. from less than head height and not hit by a moving vehicle) has resulted in a fracture in the context of osteoporosis. Most patients with hip fractures, therefore, are older people with complex needs. Hip fractures account for 50% of injury related hospital admissions and 66% of bed days for people aged over 75 years.

There are several well established national guidelines for the management of hip fracture in older people (e.g. SIGN; Royal College of Physicians; Joint Guidance from the British Orthopaedic Association/National Osteoporosis Society ("Blue Book"). There are also several examples of integrated care pathways (e.g. Peterborough, Belfast) in use. The key factor from an A&E department perspective is to ensure rapid diagnosis and rapid transfer to the orthopaedic trauma ward. Widely accepted auditable processes include obtaining an x-ray, commencement of IV fluids, administration of IV analgesia, thromboprophylaxis, and the use of pressure relieving mattresses – the suggested timeframe is for this to be achieved in less than four hours of A&E arrival (16).

Suggested A&E and Ambulance Service Urgent Care Pathway for Older People Presenting with Falls, Confusion or Hip Fracture

Audit Topic 1

Aim: To improve case identification of fallers

Action: Ambulance Services: the details of all ambulance attendances to older

people who have "fallen but not conveyed" routinely notified to an

appropriate health or social care agency. A copy of the completed Patient

Report Form made available to that agency.

Action: A&E Departments: to routinely ask all older people if the attendance is

related to fall or blackout (positive response – linked to Audit Topic 4).

It is acknowledged that this positive case identification of fallers, in line with NICE guidance, will potentially increase workloads for primary and community care and falls services. However, experience in the former Hampshire and Berkshire Ambulance Services has demonstrated that the notification rate of non-conveyed falls averages at less than one patient per week per general practice. Moreover, most of these patients are likely to eventually find their way through to the falls services by virtue of future falls. Earlier, more timely referral might be expected to be associated with increased health gain.

Audit Topic 2

Aim: To improve the quality of ambulance service and A&E department routine

assessment of older people, where hospital admission is being

considered.

Action: a) Assessment of gait and balance by observation of standing and walking

(using usual walking aids).

b) Assessment for confusion using a cognitive impairment instrument

Failure on either of these two assessments should link to Audit Topic 4.

It would be regarded as poor assessment if a patient attending an A&E department did not have a recording of temperature, pulse rate and blood pressure. Our intent with Audit Topic 2 is to augment this accepted routinely collected clinical information with two basic assessments that could be considered routine for older people.

There are many formal assessments for gait and balance but the "Get up and go" test has been well researched, is quick and simple and suitable for use by ambulance practitioners and A&E staff. The patient sits in a chair and is asked to stand, walk a few metres (using usual walking aid if relevant), turn round and sit down again. Difficulties in executing the task, including balance problems, can be easily identified.

There are several methods to assess cognitive function. Examples include: a four point test (AMT4 score); the ten point Abbreviated Mental Test Score (AMT score); or the 30 point Mini-Mental State Examination Score (MMSE score). We recommend the AMT4 score as it is quick to use and therefore suitable for clinical environment of the A&E department (17). There is some favourable experience with its use in A&E departments (18). The AMT4 simply records the responses to:

- 1. What year are we in?
- 2. What do we call this place you are in?
- 3. How old are you?
- 4. What is your date of birth?

An incorrect answer to any of the four questions suggests cognitive impairment may be present (17).

Audit Topic 3

Aim: To improve management of hip fracture in A&E

Action: The diagnosis and immediate management (X-ray; commencement of IV

fluids, administration of IV analgesia, administration of sub-cutaneous heparin, and the use of pressure relieving mattresses) to be achieved in

less than four hours of A&E arrival.

Audit Topic 4

Aim: To improve integration of A&E departments with mainstream older people

services offering comprehensive assessment.

Urgent Care Pathways for Older People with Complex Needs – Best Practice Guidance

Action:

Patients identified as having presented with falls or blackouts, patients with impaired gait, or with confusion offered referral for comprehensive specialist assessment.

The most appropriate services for comprehensive assessment will vary between local health and social care communities but is likely to include the following:

- Primary health care team
- Mental health services for older people
- The local falls prevention service
- An intermediate care service
- Day hospital
- Elderly care outpatients
- Elderly care in-patients

Suggested Audit Indicators for the A&E and Ambulance Service Urgent Care Pathway for Older People with Complex Needs

(i) A&E

- 1. The percentage of all people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service each month for whom a fall or blackout is recorded as reason for attendance.
- 2. The percentage of all people aged over 65 presenting to A&E each month, where hospital admission is being considered, who have had an assessment of gait and balance recorded.
- 3. The percentage of all people aged over 65 presenting to A&E each month, where hospital admission is being considered, who have had an assessment of cognitive state recorded.
- 4. The percentage of older people presenting to A&E with falls or blackout who have been referred for specialist assessment.
- 5. The percentage of people presenting with hip fracture who receive an *X-ray;* commencement of IV fluids, administration of IV analgesia, administration of thromboprophylaxis, and the use of pressure relieving mattresses in less than four hours of A&E arrival.

(ii) Ambulance Service

- 1. The percentage of all people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service each month for whom a fall of blackout is recorded as reason for attendance.
- 2. The percentage of people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service because of a fall or blackout but are "not conveyed."
- 3. The percentage of people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service because of a fall or blackout but are "not conveyed" and referred to a health or social care service.

Urgent Care Pathways for Older People with Complex Needs – Best Practice Guidance

- 4. The percentage of all people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service, where hospital admission is being considered, who have had an assessment of gait and balance recorded.
- 5. The percentage of all people aged over 65 seen by the ambulance service, where hospital admission is being considered, who have had an assessment of cognitive state recorded.

References

- 1. Downing A, Wilson R. *Older people's use of accident and emergency services*. Age Ageing 2005; 34: 24-30.
- 2. Department of Health. National Service Framework of Older People. 2001.
- 3. Gillespie LD, Gillespie WJ, Robertson MC, Lamb SE, Cumming RG, Rowe BH. *Interventions for preventing falls in elderly people (Cochrane Review)*. In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2002. Oxford: Update Software.
- 4. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. *Falls: the assessment and prevention of falls in older people*. Clinical Guidance No. 21, November 2004.
- 5. Close J, Halter M, Elrick A, Brain G, Swift C. Falls in the older population: a pilot study to assess those attended by the London Ambulance Service but not taken to A&E. Age and Ageing 2002; 31: 488-489.
- 6. Scuffham P, Chaplin S, Legood R. *Incidence and costs of unintentional falls in older people in the UK*. J Epidemiol Com Health 2003; 57: 740-744.
- 7. Davies AJ, Kenny RA. Falls presenting to the A&E department: types of presentation and risk factor profile. Age and Ageing 1996; 25: 362-366.
- 8. Masud T, Morris RO. Epidemiology of falls. Age & Ageing 2001; Suppl 4: 3-7.
- 9. Close j, Ellis M, Hooper R, Glucksman E, Jackson S, Swift C. *Prevention of falls in the elderly trial: the PROFET study.* Lancet 1999; 353:93-97.
- 10. Davison J, Bond J, Dawson P, Steen N, Kenny RA. *Patients with recurrent falls attending A&E benefit from multifactorial intervention a randomised controlled trial.* Age and Ageing. 2005: 34: 162-168.
- 11. Atri J, Pugh RN, Bowden D. Are we falling at the first hurdle? Under-reporting of falls in the A&E department. J Public Health 2005; 27: 33-35.
- 12. The Clinical Effectiveness & Evaluation Unit, *National Audit of the organisation of services for falls and bone health for Older People*. Royal college of Physicians. London. 2006.
- 13. Inouye S. *Current concepts: Delirium in older persons*. New England J Medicine 2006; 354: 1157-1165.

- 14. Kakuma R, Galbaud du Fort G, Arsenault et al. *Delirium in older emergency department patients discharged home: effects on survival.* J. American Geriatrics society 2003; 57: 443-450.
- 15. Clinical Effectiveness and Evaluation Unit. *The prevention, diagnosis and management of delirium in older people.* Royal College of Physicians. London. June 2006.
- 16. British Orthopaedic Association. The Care of Patients with Fragility Fracture. 2007.
- 17. Swain DG, O'Brien, Nightingale PG. Cognitive assessment in elderly patients admitted to hospital: the relationship between the shortened version of the AMT and the AMT and MMSE. Clinical Rehabilitation 2000; 14: 608-610.
- 18. Lees L. A framework to promote the holistic assessment of older people in emergency care. Nursing Older People. 2005; 16: 16-19.

Working Group Members

Prof John Young Consultant Geriatrician and Department of Health adviser

Dr Susan Poulton Consultant Lead for Falls and Bone Health

Tim Churchill Hampshire Ambulance Trust

Nigel Toller Nurse Assessor Intermediate Care

Martin Shalley Consultant in Emergency Medicine/BAEM President, Heart of

England Foundation Trust

Dr David Oliver Senior Lecturer and Consultant Physician, Elderly Care

Amanda Hoult Falls Coordinator

Melanie Chawner Chair of AGILE; Physiotherapist specialising in falls

Dr Opinder Sahota Consultant physician

Dr Jim George Consultant Geriatrician

Dr John Holmes Senior Lecturer in Liaison Psychiatry of Old Age, Leeds University

Paul Brittain Policy Manager, Older Peoples policy, Dept of Health